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19 In addition, million Amot options that are exercisable for Amot’s ordinary shares.
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22 As part of the Company's choice to participate in Carr's DRIP program, the dividend amount to which the Company is entitled in Carr will 
remain after its receipt and reinvestment.  
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   A Review Report of the Independent Auditor to the shareholders of 

Alony Hetz Properties & Investments Ltd. 
 
Introduction 
 
We have reviewed the accompanying financial information of Alony Hetz Properties & Investments Ltd. the Company 
and subsidiaries (hereafter- “the Company”) which includes the condensed consolidated statement of financial position as 
of September 30, 2022, and the related condensed consolidated statements of profit or loss, comprehensive income, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the periods of nine and three months ended on that date. The board of directors and 
management are responsible for the preparation and presentation of this interim financial information in accordance with 
IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” and they are also responsible for the preparation of this interim financial information 
in accordance with Chapter D of Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports) - 1970. Our responsibility is to 
express a conclusion on this interim financial information based on our review. 
 
We did not review the interim condensed financial information of companies that were consolidated, whose assets included 
in consolidation constitute approximately 12% of the total consolidated assets as of September 30, 2022, and whose 
revenues included in consolidation constitute approximately 16% and 33% of the total consolidated revenues for the 
periods of nine and three months ended on that date, respectively. Furthermore, we did not review the interim condensed 
financial information of certain affiliates presented on the equity method basis, the investment in which amounted to 
approximately 4,635 million NIS as of September 30, 2022, and the share of the results of which for the periods on nine 
and three months ended that date, amounted to a loss of approximately 187 million NIS and loss of 162 million NIS, 
respectively. The interim condensed financial information of those companies was reviewed by other auditors, whose 
review reports have been furnished to us, and our conclusion, insofar as it relates to the financial information included for 
those companies, is based on the review reports of the other auditors. 
 
Scope of Review 
 
We conducted our review in accordance with Review Standard (Israel) 2410 of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
in Israel "Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity". A review of interim 
financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, 
and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance 
that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express 
an audit opinion. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on our review and the review reports of other auditors, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe 
that the abovementioned financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34. 
 
In addition to the statements in the previous paragraph, based on our review and the review reports of other auditors, 
nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the abovementioned financial information does not comply, 
in all material respects, with the disclosure requirements of Chapter D of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and 
Immediate Reports) - 1970. 
 
 
 
 
Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co. 
Certified Public Accountants 
A Firm in the Deloitte Global Network  
 
Tel Aviv, November 22, 2022 



 
 

 



 
 

 



 
 

 



 
 

 



 
 

 

 



 
 

 



 
 

 

 



 
 

 



 
 

 



 
 

 



 
 

 



 
 

 

 

  



 
 

 



 

 



 

 

 

 

 

▪ 

▪ 

▪ 

  

% % % % % 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

▪ 

▪ 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

▪ 

▪ 

▪ 

▪ 



 

 

 

 

Financial assets at fair value 

Financial liabilities at fair value 

Derivatives: 

 



 

 

 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss: 

Financial liabilities at fair value 
Derivatives: 

 

 



 

 

 

Financial liabilities at fair value 
Derivatives: 

 

 



 

 

 

 

• 

• 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 



 



 

 



 

 



 



 



 



 



 



 

 

 



Image of The Dovetail Building, London

Report on the 
Effectiveness of Internal 
Control of Financial 
Reporting and Disclosure

Alony Hetz Properties & Investments ltd.



 

 



 

 

 22,     Signature  



 

 



Reference to the 
Report on the 
Corporation’s Liabilities 
by Repayment Dates

Alony Hetz Properties & Investments ltd.

Amot, Image of ToHa 2, Tel Aviv



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CARR, One Congress, Boston

Attachment of the 
Financial Statements of 
an Associate - Carr

Alony Hetz Properties & Investments ltd.



CARR PROPERTIES 
HOLDINGS LP
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements as of
September 30, 2022
(Unaudited)



CARR PROPERTIES HOLDINGS LP

Table of Contents

Report of Independent Auditors 1

Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets 3

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 4

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 5

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 6

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 8-35



PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 655 New York Avenue NW, Washington, DC 20001 
T: (202) 414 1000, www.pwc.com/us 

Report of Independent Auditors 

To the Management of Carr Properties Holdings LP 

Results of Review of Interim Financial Information 

We have reviewed the accompanying condensed consolidated interim financial information of Carr 
Properties Holdings LP and its subsidiaries (the “Company”), which comprise the condensed consolidated 
balance sheet as of September 30, 2022, and the related condensed consolidated statements of operations 
and comprehensive income (loss) and of cash flows for the three-month and nine-month periods ended 
September 30, 2022 and 2021 and the condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity for the 
nine-month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, including the related notes (collectively referred 
to as the “condensed consolidated interim financial information”).  

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the 
accompanying condensed consolidated interim financial information for it to be in accordance with IAS 
34, Interim Financial Reporting, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

Basis for Review Results 

We conducted our review in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (US GAAS) applicable to reviews of interim financial information. A review of interim financial 
information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons 
responsible for financial and accounting matters. A review of interim financial information is substantially 
less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS, the objective of which is an expression 
of an opinion regarding the financial information as a whole, and accordingly, we do not express such an 
opinion. We are required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, 
in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our review. We believe that the results of 
the review procedures provide a reasonable basis for our conclusion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial 
Information 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the condensed consolidated 
interim financial information in accordance with IAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of 
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the condensed consolidated interim 
financial information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Other Matter 

We previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, the consolidated balance sheet of Carr Properties Holdings LP and its subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income 
(loss), of changes in equity and of cash flows for the year then ended (not presented herein), and in our 
report dated March 2, 2022, we expressed an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial 
statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated 
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balance sheet as of December 31, 2021, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited consolidated 
balance sheet from which it has been derived 

November 9, 2022 



Notes September 30, 2022 December 31, 2021
ASSETS (Unaudited)
Non-current assets

Investment properties, at fair value
Income generating properties (cost of $2,599,356 and $2,415,564) 4,11 $ 2,390,331 $ 2,403,873 
Properties in development (cost of $7,256 and $160,848) 4,11 7,256 169,254 

Investments in associates 5 730,093 705,632 
Goodwill 8 9,326 9,326 
Derivative asset 11 37,718 3,601 
Straight line rent receivable 110,619 95,701 
Deferred leasing costs and other, net 38,660 38,783 

3,324,003 3,426,170 
Current assets

Trade receivables, net 6,899 6,133 
Prepaid expense and other assets 14,895 14,124 
Restricted cash 10 4,948 5,310 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,10 37,217 28,373 

63,959 53,940 
Total assets $ 3,387,962 $ 3,480,110 

EQUITY
Equity attributable to common shareholders 17 $ 1,666,533 $ 1,606,196 
Equity reserve from increase in CPP 9,640 9,829 
Equity reserve for cash flow hedges 11 6,366 (15,173) 
Retained earnings 174,504 292,854 
Equity attributable to non-redeemable non-controlling interests 17 139,279 144,161 

Total equity 1,996,323 2,037,867 

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities

Credit facility, net of deferred financing fees 9,10 $ 603,923 $ 567,981 
Notes payable, net of current portion and deferred financing fees 9,10 373,284 508,870 
Lease liabilities, net of current portion 7,15 145,056 143,170 
Redeemable non-controlling interests, net of current portion 17 — 2,233 
Derivative liabilities, net of current portion 11 — 2,550 
Security deposits 4,377 3,956 
Other liabilities 12,332 12,863 

1,138,972 1,241,623 
Current liabilities

Current portion of credit facility and notes payable, net of deferred financing fees 9,10 136,878 2,578 
Current portion of lease liabilities 7,15 857 524 
Redeemable non-controlling interests, current 17 85,999 152,448 
Rent received in advance 6,763 9,296 
Trade and other payables 2 22,170 35,774 

252,667 200,620 
  Total liabilities 1,391,639 1,442,243 
  Total equity and liabilities $ 3,387,962 $ 3,480,110 

CARR PROPERTIES HOLDINGS LP 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands of US Dollars)

Oliver T. Carr Oliver T. Carr Member of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Eric Tracy Eric Tracy Chief Financial Officer

Financial Statements Approval Date November 9, 2022

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Revenues
Rental revenue $ 42,337 $ 48,080 $ 125,984 $ 134,279 

Recoveries from tenants 5,397 6,401 13,776 24,483 

Parking income 2,634 2,544 7,093 5,898 

Property management fees and other 14 1,235 1,064 3,644 2,777 

Total revenues 51,603 58,089 150,497 167,437 

Operating expenses
Property operating expenses

Direct payroll and benefits 2,315 2,293 7,039 7,062 

Repairs and maintenance 2,500 2,453 7,359 7,997 

Cleaning 1,407 1,346 4,104 3,752 

Utilities 2,381 1,616 6,665 5,309 

Real estate and other taxes 8,843 9,839 26,351 31,152 

Other expenses 13 5,048 4,152 13,659 12,828 

Property operating expenses 22,494 21,699 65,177 68,100 

Non-property general and administrative expenses 12 5,066 6,217 15,936 17,423 

Total operating expenses 27,560 27,916 81,113 85,523 

Other operating (expense) income
Net (loss) gain from fair value adjustment of investment properties 4 (111,660) 21,851 (205,827) 11,236 

Realized loss on sale of investment properties 4 — (367) — (22,819) 

(Loss) income from investments in associates 5 (9,958) 11,759 34,917 22,045 

Total other operating (loss) income and expense (121,618) 33,243 (170,910) 10,462 

Operating (loss) income (97,575) 63,416 (101,526) 92,376 

Other income (expense)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 9 — (3,474) — (3,474) 

Other income (170) 95 331 329 

Revaluation of redeemable non-controlling interests 4,689 (3,442) 8,489 (5,327) 

Interest expense 9 (14,102) (10,629) (34,704) (33,706) 

Pre-tax income (107,158) 45,966 (127,410) 50,198 

Income and franchise tax (benefit) expense (102) 375 461 645 

Net (loss) income $ (107,056) $ 45,591 $ (127,871) $ 49,553 

Attribution of net (loss) income
Common shareholders $ (98,770) $ 42,379 $ (118,350) $ 44,513 

Non-redeemable non-controlling interests (8,286) 3,212 (9,521) 5,040 

$ (107,056) $ 45,591 $ (127,871) $ 49,553 

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to income or loss: 

Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges 11 $ 14,412 $ 670 $ 26,098 $ 4,917 

Less: Reclassification adjustments for losses included in net income 9 — — — 1,225 

Less: Reclassification adjustments for disposition losses included in net income — — — 16,277 

Other comprehensive income 14,412 670 26,098 22,419 

Total comprehensive (loss) income $ (92,644) $ 46,261 $ (101,773) $ 71,972 

Attribution of comprehensive (loss) income
Common shareholders $ (86,250) $ 42,917 $ (96,811) $ 64,686 

Non-redeemable non-controlling interests (6,394) 3,344 (4,962) 7,286 

$ (92,644) $ 46,261 $ (101,773) $ 71,972 

Three Months Ended 
September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 
30,

Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

CARR PROPERTIES HOLDINGS LP 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(in thousands of US Dollars)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Notes Equity Attributable to
Common Shareholders

Equity Reserve
from Increase 

in CPP

Equity 
Reserve for 
Cash Flow 

Hedges 

Retained 
Earnings

Total 
Shareholders' 

Equity

Non-
Redeemable 

Non-
Controlling 

Interests

Total Equity

Units Amount
Balance as of December 31, 2020  1,393,348 $ 1,606,196 $ 9,756 $ (38,054) $ 262,864 $ 1,840,762 $ 143,031 $ 1,983,793 

Issuance of preferred shares by a subsidiary, net 
of offering costs — — — — — — 120 120 

Non-controlling interest partner distribution to 
2025 Clarendon 5 — — — — — — (4,213) (4,213) 

Change in equity reserve from increase in CPP — — 101 — — 101 (101) —

Net Income — — — — 44,513 44,513 5,040 49,553 

Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges 11 — — — 3,771 — 3,771 1,146 4,917 

Amortization of terminated cash flow hedge — — — 1,148 — 1,148 77 1,225 
Write off of previously terminated cash flow 
hedges — — — 15,254 — 15,254 1,023 16,277 

Distributions 17 — — — — (1,749) (1,749) (161) (1,910)

Balance as of September 30, 2021  1,393,348 $ 1,606,196 $ 9,857 $ (17,881) $ 305,628 $ 1,903,800 $ 145,962 $ 2,049,762 

Notes Equity Attributable to 
Common Shareholders

Equity Reserve 
From Increase 

in CPP

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)

Retained 
Earnings

Total 
Shareholders' 

Equity

Non-
Redeemable 

Non-
Controlling 

Interests

Total Equity

Units Amount
Balance as of December 31, 2021  1,393,348 $ 1,606,196 $ 9,829 $ (15,173) $ 292,854 $ 1,893,706 $ 144,161 $ 2,037,867 

Issuance of preferred shares by a subsidiary, net 
of offering costs — — — — — — (37) (37)

Issuance of common shares, net of offering costs 17 45,755 60,337 — — — 60,337 — 60,337 

Issuance of common shares, non-cash 17 29,773 — — — — — — — 

Change in equity reserve from increase in CPP — — (189) — — (189) 3,010 2,821 

Net loss — — — — (118,350) (118,350) (9,521) (127,871) 

Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges - intrinsic 11 — — — 19,822 — 19,822 4,445 24,267 

Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges - time value 11 — — — 1,717 — 1,717 114 1,831 

Distributions 17 — — — — — — (2,892) (2,892) 

Balance as of September 30, 2022  1,468,876 $ 1,666,533 $ 9,640 $ 6,366 $ 174,504 $ 1,857,043 $ 139,279 $ 1,996,323 

CARR PROPERTIES HOLDINGS LP 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(in thousands of US Dollars, except share data)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Cash flows from operating activities

Net (loss) income $ (107,056) $ 45,591 $ (127,871) $ 49,553 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Net loss (gain) from fair value adjustment of investment properties 4 111,660 (21,851) 205,827 (11,236) 

Write off of previously terminated cash flow hedge — — — 16,277 

Loss (income) from investments in associates 5 9,958 (11,759) (34,917) (22,045) 

Loss on extinguishment of debt 9 — 3,474 — 3,474 

Income and franchise tax (benefit) expense (102) 375 461 645 

Interest expense, net excluding amortization of deferred financing fees 13,682 10,018 33,530 32,011 

Amortization of deferred financing fees 454 644 1,275 1,796 

Amortization of equipment leases 167 58 300 201 

Amortization of Equipment & Software 64 54 186 186 

Amortization of deferred leasing costs and lease incentives 1,304 1,201 3,941 3,654 

Amortization of note payable premium (34) (33) (101) (101)

Amortization of interest rate cap 960 — 960 — 

Provision for bad debt expense (158) 46 291 92 

LTIP Compensation 673 1,980 2,479 5,232 

Revaluation of redeemable non-controlling interests (4,689) 3,442 (8,489) 5,327 

Changes in assets and liabilities
Trade receivables (684) (1,492) (1,057) 6,418 

Straight line rent receivable (3,856) (14,775) (14,918) (17,551) 

Purchase of interest rate cap 11 — — (11,530) — 

Prepaid expense and other assets (2,352) (5,258) (771) (3,703)

Trade and other payables (3,403) 1,057 (10,442) (1,474) 

Rent received in advance 1,502 (832) (2,533) (8,982) 

Cash generated by operations $ 18,090 11,940 36,621 59,774 

Cash paid for interest (12,895) (8,753) (30,994) (29,097) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 5,195 3,187 5,627 30,677 

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of investment property held for sale — — — 18,496 

Proceeds from sale of income generating property 4 — 83,174 — 302,930 

Acquisition of income generating property, including prepaid acquisition costs 5 — — — (195,674) 

Contributions to investment in associates 5 — — (86) (24,564)

Return of investments in associates 5 3,851 5,869 10,542 5,869 

Acquisition of development property land 4 — — (2,208) — 

Additions to deferred leasing costs (351) (2,039) (7,700) (5,637) 

Additions to tenant improvements (2,255) (526) (9,457) (3,163) 

Additions to construction in progress, including capitalized interest (1,617) (17,802) (4,047) (64,739) 

Other capital improvements on income generating properties (4,180) (3,506) (16,214) (16,855) 

(Increase) decrease in restricted cash 63 (701) (206) 6,425 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (4,489) 64,469 (29,376) 23,088 

Cash flows from financing activities
Redemption of redeemable non-controlling interest 17 (984) (857) (61,978) (1,078) 

Distribution to joint venture non-controlling interest partner 4 — (1,574) — (4,213) 

Principal portion of lease payments 7 (342) (115) (851) (361)

Issuance of common shares, net of offering costs 17 — — 60,337 — 

Borrowings under credit facility 9 7,000 364,000 95,000 590,000 

Three Months Ended 
September 30,

Nine Months Ended 
September 30,

Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

CARR PROPERTIES HOLDINGS LP
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands of US Dollars)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

6



Repayments under credit facility 9  —  (185,000)  (60,000)  (454,000) 

Borrowings on notes payable 9  546  7,265  546  67,606 

Repayments of notes payable 9  (674)  (251,953)  (2,007)  (253,252) 

Payment of deferred financing fees  —  (6,020)  (139)  (6,222) 

Issuance of redeemable non-controlling interests 17  —  —  1,785  — 

Distributions to common shareholders and non-redeemable non-controlling interests 17  —  (623)  (63)  (1,902) 

Issuance of preferred shares of consolidated subsidiary, net of offering costs  (191)  —  (37)  120 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  5,355  (74,877)  32,593  (63,302) 

Net (decrease) increase  in cash and cash equivalents  6,061  (7,221)  8,844  (9,537) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period  31,156  31,812  28,373  34,128 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period $ 37,217 $ 24,591 $ 37,217 $ 24,591 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Capitalized interest $ 56 $ 112 $ 675 $ 3,831 

Accrual of retainage liabilities and construction requisitions for income generating properties

and development projects  (264)  (3,003)  292  1,600 

Lease liabilities arising from obtaining/revaluing right-of-use assets 7  140  —  1,203  13 

Non-cash interest expense 9  650  —  1,866  1,225 

Debt and other liabilities assumed in acquisition of 100 Congress 5  —  —  —  120,625 

Debt and other liabilities deconsolidated due to disposition of Midtown Center 5  —  —  —  (525,000) 

Debt and other liabilities deconsolidated due to disposition of 100 Congress 5  —  (140,560)  —  (140,560) 

Issuance of redeemable non-controlling interests 17  17  —  —  1,775  864 

Three Months Ended 
September 30,

Nine Months Ended 
September 30,

Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

CARR PROPERTIES HOLDINGS LP
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands of US Dollars)
(continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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1.  Organization and Description of Business

Carr Properties Holdings LP (collectively, the "Partnership", "Holdings", "our", or “CPH”) was formed as a Delaware 
limited partnership. The Partnership’s corporate headquarters are located at 1615 L Street, NW, Suite 650, 
Washington, D.C. 20036. The Partnership owns a 100% interest in Carr Properties Corporation (“CPC”), which has a 
consolidated subsidiary, Carr Properties Partnership (“CPP”). Through CPP, the Partnership engages in owning, 
operating and developing commercial office real estate properties in primarily the Greater Washington, D.C. area 
(defined as the District of Columbia, northern Virginia, and suburban Maryland), Boston, Massachusetts, and Austin, 
Texas. Currently, the Partnership has 13 operating properties, two consolidated operating property owned through a 
joint venture, two non-consolidated operating properties owned through joint ventures, one non-consolidated 
development property owned through joint venture, and one consolidated development property owned through joint 
venture.

The Partnership began operations on August 19, 2013 ("Inception"), through a series of transactions pursuant to a 
Master Framework Agreement (the "MFA") dated May 2, 2013, as amended, between CET Acquisition Company Inc. 
(“CET”), a wholly owned investment of the Commingled Pension Trust Fund of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., and AH 
Carr Properties Holdings LP (“Alony-Hetz”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Alony-Hetz Properties & Investments Ltd.

On January 2, 2018, Clal ENP RH, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, Clal CW Mishtatef RH, LP, a Delaware limited 
partnership, Clal CW Mishtatef US, LP, a Delaware limited partnership and Clal CW Hishtalmut US, LP, a Delaware 
limited collectively ("Clal Insurance Enterprise Holdings Ltd" or "Clal") acquired convertible notes. Clal converted 
these notes to common shares on  August 16, 2018.

The ownership interests of Alony-Hetz, CET, and Clal Insurance Enterprise Holdings Ltd., a company who began 
investing in 2018 in Holdings as of September 30, 2022, were  52.33%, 38.88%, and 8.76%, respectively. The 
remaining interests in Holdings are held by six additional investors. 

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Statement of Compliance

The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 34, Interim Financial Reporting, and as such, do not 
include all the disclosures that would be included in annual consolidated financial statements. These condensed 
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Partnership’s consolidated financial 
statements and notes thereto contained in the Partnership’s audited annual consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2021. Any changes to accounting policies and methods of computation during the three 
and nine months ended September 30, 2022, are specifically disclosed. Management believes the disclosures are 
adequate to ensure the information presented is not misleading. In management's opinion, all adjustments and 
eliminations, consisting only of normal, recurring adjustments necessary for a fair statement of the condensed 
consolidated financial statements for the interim periods, have been included. The results of operations for the interim 
periods are not necessarily indicative of the operating results for the full year. 

(b) Basis of Presentation

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. 
These financial statements are presented in United States dollars, which is the Partnership's functional and reporting 
currency. The Partnership has elected to present a single statement of operations and comprehensive income and to 
disclose its expenses by nature.

The Partnership reports cash flows from operating activities using the indirect method. Interest received and paid is 
presented within operating cash flows. The acquisitions of investment properties are disclosed as cash flows from 
investing activities because this most appropriately reflects the Partnership’s business activities.
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(c) Principles of Consolidation

General

The condensed consolidated financial statements include financial statements of the Partnership and its subsidiaries. 
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Partnership has the power to govern the entities’ financial and operating 
policies, generally accompanying an ownership of 50% or more of the voting rights. Control exists when the 
Partnership is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated in the financial statements 
from the date on which control is transferred to the Partnership and are de-consolidated from the date that control 
ceases. All intercompany balances and transactions, primarily management fees, have been eliminated in the 
consolidation process.

Investments in Associates

Associates are entities over which the Partnership has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying 
an ownership interest of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights but does not unilaterally control the most 
significant activities of the entities. Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method of accounting 
and are initially recognized at cost, with the carrying amount increased or decreased based on the Partnership’s 
share of profits, losses, contributions and distributions. The Partnership also uses the equity method to account for 
investments in associates when its ownership interest is less than 20% if it can exert significant influence. Significant 
influence is derived when the Partnership is the general partner or managing member, participates in the policy 
making processes, including preparation of the budgets and initiation of contracts, or is involved in certain decisions 
in the investee.

The real estate investments owned by associates are carried at fair value as determined by management of the 
associates, based on independent third-party appraisals, and reflect the estimated price that an underlying property 
would bring in a competitive open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller each acting 
prudently and knowledgeably, and assuming the prices are not affected by undue stimulus. The Partnership’s 
ownership interests in the real estate investments owned by the associates also reflect the Partnership’s ownership 
interests in the associates’ other assets and liabilities, including associates’ debt. The Partnership’s share of profits or 
losses is recognized in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss), 
and the Partnership records its share of losses until the carrying amount of its investment is reduced to zero. No 
further losses are recorded by the Partnership unless it has an obligation, legal or constructive, or has made 
payments, to satisfy the associates’ liabilities.

Joint Arrangements

The Partnership may enter into contractual arrangements related to the ownership of investment or development 
properties. The Partnership evaluates such arrangements in accordance with IFRS 11 - Joint Arrangements to 
determine the type of joint arrangement by assessing its contractual rights and obligations. This determination 
includes the assessment of joint control and the classification of a joint arrangement as a joint operation or a joint 
venture. Joint arrangements that are classified as a joint operation will result in the Partnership recognizing its 
proportionate ownership interest in the underlying assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Joint arrangements that 
are classified as a joint venture will be accounted for using the equity method in accordance with IAS 28 - 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.

Non-Controlling Interests

The Partnership’s condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Partnership and its 
subsidiaries. The equity interests of the preferred shareholders and other limited partners in Carr Properties 
Partnership and its subsidiaries are reflected as non-redeemable non-controlling interests. Certain redeemable non-
controlling interests retain redemption rights and are classified within current and non-current liabilities depending on 
contractual provisions of the redemption features. Redeemable non-controlling interests are recorded at contractual 
redemption amounts based on the Net Asset Value of CPP at each respective period end.

(d) Leases

The Partnership has material ground leases under its Columbia Center and 1701 Duke Street properties. In addition, 
the Partnership leases air rights at its 2001 Penn property. The Partnership also enters into various equipment and 
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copier leases in the normal course of operations. At inception of a contract, the Partnership assesses whether the 
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use 
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset, the Partnership assesses whether:

• The contract involves the use of an identified asset - this may be specified explicitly or implicitly, and should 
be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset; 

• The Partnership has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset 
throughout the period of use; and

• The Partnership has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Partnership has this right when it has the 
decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. 

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Partnership allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. However, for 
the leases of land and air rights in which it is the lessee, the Partnership has elected not to separate non-lease 
components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. 

The Partnership recognizes a Right-of-Use Asset ("ROUA") and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
The ROUA is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs 
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less 
any lease incentives received.

The ROUA is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of 
the end of the useful life of the ROUA or the end of the lease term. In accordance with IAS 40, the ROUA for ground 
and air rights leases qualify as investment property and as such are measured at fair value. The estimated useful 
lives of ROUA for equipment leases are determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In 
addition, the ROUA is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of 
the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Partnership’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Partnership uses its incremental borrowing 
rate as the discount rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at 

the commencement date;
• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
• the exercise price under a purchase option that the Partnership is reasonably certain to exercise, lease 

payments in an optional renewal period if the Partnership is reasonably certain to exercise an extension 
option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Partnership is reasonably certain not to 
terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The interest for this liability is 
included within "Interest expense" on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive 
Income (Loss). 

(e) Acquisitions/dispositions of Investment Property

Acquisitions

The Partnership applies judgment to determine whether the acquisition of an investment property is the acquisition of 
an asset under International Accounting Standards 40 - Investment Property ("IAS 40") or the acquisition of a 
business under IFRS 3 - Business Combinations ("IFRS 3").

CARR PROPERTIES HOLDINGS LP
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(US Dollar amounts expressed in thousands, except share and per share data)

10



An asset acquisition exists when: (i) it is probable that the future economic benefits that are associated with the 
investment property will flow to the entity; and (ii) the cost of the investment property can be measured reliably. The 
Partnership classifies an acquisition as an asset acquisition when it acquires a property or a portfolio of properties 
that do not meet the definition of a business. The initial cost of an asset acquisition is comprised of its purchase price 
and any directly attributable expenditures. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in asset acquisitions 
are measured initially at fair value at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs for asset acquisitions are 
capitalized to the investment property at the time the acquisition is completed.

The Partnership classifies an acquisition as a business combination where an integrated set of activities is acquired in 
addition to the property. The cost of a business combination is measured as the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred at acquisition date fair value. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at fair value at the acquisition date. The Partnership recognizes any contingent 
consideration to be transferred by the Partnership at its acquisition date fair value. Goodwill represents the purchase 
price of acquired businesses in excess of the fair value of net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Acquisition 
related costs for business combinations are expensed in the period incurred.

Dispositions

The Partnership classifies an investment property or investment in associate as held for sale when it has determined 
that its carrying amount will be recovered principally though a sale transaction rather than its continuing use. The sale 
must be considered highly probable whereby management has the authority to approve the action, commits to a plan 
to sell the asset, and the sale of the asset is probable with completion expected within one year. 

Assets are not amortized while they are classified as held for sale. The assets and liabilities of an investment held for 
sale are presented separately from the other assets and liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet. 
 
(f) Investment Properties

In accordance with IAS 40, property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that 
is not occupied by the Partnership, is classified as investment property. Investment properties are properties held to 
earn rental income and are accounted for using the fair value model. Investment property also includes property that 
is being constructed or developed for future use as an investment property.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost. Subsequently, investment property is measured at fair value, at 
each balance sheet date. Gains and losses from changes in fair value are recorded in "Change in unrealized gain 
(loss) on valuation" on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss), in 
the period in which they arise. The Partnership determines the fair value of its investment property in accordance with 
IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement ("IFRS 13"). The fair value of an investment property reflects the estimated price 
that an underlying property would realize in a competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, 
the buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by undue 
stimulus. The fair value reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases and assumptions about rental 
income from future leases in light of current market conditions. The fair value also reflects any expected cash 
outflows in respect to investment property. Some of those outflows are recognized as a liability, including lease 
liabilities in respect of land classified as investment property; others, including variable lease payments that are not 
based on an index or rate, are not recognized in the financial statements. Accordingly, investment properties have  
been adjusted for any recognized liabilities.

Certain investment properties being constructed, developed or redeveloped are also measured at fair value. 
Subsequent expenditures related to properties in development are added to the property's carrying amount when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Partnership. Fair value measurement 
of an investment property in development is only applied if the fair value is considered to be reliably measurable. If 
the Partnership determines that the fair value of an investment property in development is not reliably determinable 
when construction is incomplete, it measures that property in development at cost until either its fair value becomes 
reliably determinable or construction is completed. It may sometimes be difficult to determine reliably the fair value of 
an investment property in development. In order to evaluate whether the fair value of an investment property in 
development can be determined reliably, management considers the following factors, among others:

•  Provisions of the construction contract;
•  Stage of completion;
•  Whether the project or property is standard (typical for the market) or non-standard;
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•  Level of reliability of cash inflows after completion;
•  Development risk specific to the property;
•  Past experience with similar construction; and
•  Status of construction permits.

The Partnership will reclassify portions of an investment property that are placed into service from “Properties in 
development” to “Income generating properties” when those portions are deemed to be substantially complete, 
including tenant improvements, and upon commencement of revenue recognition. The Partnership considers a 
property in development as substantially complete after major construction has ended and the property is available 
for tenant occupancy. For properties that are built in phases, the Partnership ceases capitalization on the portion of a 
property that is considered substantially complete but no later than one year from completion of major construction 
activity if not occupied.

The fair value of certain properties in development has been prepared giving consideration to costs incurred to date 
and to key development risk factors, including entitlement risk, construction risk, leasing/sales risk, operations risk, 
credit risk, capital market risk, pricing risk, event risk and valuation risk. The fair value of properties in development 
includes the timely recognition of estimated entrepreneurial profit after such consideration.

Development rights are development opportunities in the early phase of the development process where the 
Partnership either has an option to acquire land, enter into a leasehold interest or where the Partnership is the buyer 
under a long-term conditional contract to purchase land. The Partnership capitalizes related pre-development costs 
incurred in pursuit of new developments for which the Partnership currently believes future development is probable. 
Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred and are included in the Condensed Consolidated 
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.

(g) Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of a business and represents the excess of consideration transferred over the fair 
value of the net identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. Each quarter, the Partnership evaluates the 
values assigned to its goodwill and other intangible assets to determine whether any indicators of impairment are 
present. The Partnership also performs an annual impairment test or more frequently when there is an indicator of an 
impairment on the goodwill balance, which has an indefinite life. No such losses have been identified and reflected in 
the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.
 
(h) Restricted Cash

The Partnership classifies cash that is restricted as to usage or withdrawal as restricted cash. Restricted cash 
includes amounts established pursuant to various agreements for property taxes, insurance and other future lease 
operations. Restricted cash consists of funds restricted by agreements with financial institutions. These funds will be 
released upon completion of agreed-upon events, tasks, or time-lines as specified in the respective agreements. For 
purposes of the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, changes in restricted cash are classified according to their 
nature.

(i) Fair Value Measurements

The Partnership measures the fair value of its assets and liabilities in accordance with IFRS 13 - Fair Value 
Measurement. This standard requires assets and liabilities to be categorized into a hierarchy based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement of the asset or liability. Disclosure of fair value 
measurements is according to the following hierarchy: 

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). 
Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). 

The Partnership recognizes transfers into and transfers out of the fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the 
event or changes in circumstances that causes the transfer. There were no transfers in and out of level 1, 2, or 3 for 
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022. 

CARR PROPERTIES HOLDINGS LP
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(US Dollar amounts expressed in thousands, except share and per share data)

12



Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, 
considering factors specific to the asset or liability. If a fair value measurement requires the use of unobservable 
inputs and is not based on observable market information, that measurement falls under Level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy. 

Investment Properties

The Partnership records investment properties at fair value. The fair value of investment properties is estimated 
based on the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between marketplace participants 
at the measurement date. Investment properties without a public market are valued based upon fair value 
assumptions and valuation techniques utilized by the Partnership. Such valuation techniques include income 
capitalization and sales comparison approaches. The Partnership also considers actual sale negotiations and bona 
fide purchase offers received from third parties, as well as independent external appraisals. In general, the 
Partnership considers multiple valuation techniques when measuring the fair value of an investment property. 
However, in certain circumstances, a single valuation technique may be appropriate. Independent third-party 
appraisal reports are prepared annually and updated quarterly for all properties subject to fair value measurement.

Income Capitalization Approach: This approach is based on the principle that value is created by the 
expectation of future income. This approach is particularly applicable in the case of income producing 
properties. One technique to convert income to value is direct capitalization, which involves dividing the net 
operating income by a market capitalization rate. A second technique is the discounted cash flow analysis, in 
which projected cash flows (net operating income less periodic capital expenditures and reversion value at 
the conclusion of the holding period) are converted to present value by applying an annual discount rate. In 
both techniques, net operating income and cash flow are estimated based on an analysis of market rent and 
occupancy levels and projected property expenses. Key inputs and assumptions include rental income and 
expense amounts and related growth rates, as well as discount and income capitalization rates. Significant 
increases (decreases) in any of these inputs in isolation would result in a significantly lower (higher) fair 
value measurement. Generally, a change in the assumptions used for the discount and the capitalization 
rate is accompanied by a directionally opposite change in the fair value measurement and a change in the 
assumptions used for the future cash flows is accompanied by a directionally similar change in the fair value 
measurement.

Sales Comparison Approach: This approach is a method of estimating fair value based on analyzing 
transactions of similar properties in the market area. A major premise of this approach is that the fair value of 
the property is directly related to the prices of comparable, competitive properties. The reliability of this 
approach is dependent upon the availability of comparable data, the verification of sales data, the degree of 
comparability and the absence of atypical conditions affecting the sales price. Once sales data is gathered, 
adjustments involving the judgment of management are made to the comparable properties to determine a 
value range for the property being valued. Generally, a point of value within the adjusted range is selected. 

Cost Approach: The application of the cost approach is based on the principle of substitution and the 
concept that a market participant would not pay more for a property than the cost to develop a substitute 
property of equivalent desirability and utility. This approach involves the valuation of the land as if vacant, 
estimation of the replacement cost of the existing or proposed structure and site improvements, estimation of 
accrued depreciation found in the improvements and estimation of an appropriate entrepreneurial profit as 
applicable. The cost approach is typically utilized to determine value for new or proposed properties, special 
use properties or where the cost of reproducing the improvements is easily and accurately quantified and 
there is no economic obsolescence.

Derivative Instruments

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Partnership uses interest rate swap and interest rate cap agreements to manage its 
interest rate risk, and these instruments are carried at fair value on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
The Partnership does not enter into hedging derivative transactions for trading or other speculative purposes. The 
valuation of the interest rate swaps and interest rate cap is determined using widely accepted valuation techniques, 
including discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of each interest rate swap and interest rate cap. 
This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the interest rate swaps and interest rate cap, including the period to 
maturity, and uses observable market-based inputs, including interest rate curves and implied volatility. The fair 
values of interest rate swaps and interest rate cap are determined by using the market standard methodology of 
netting the discounted future fixed cash payments (or receipts) and the discounted expected variable cash receipts 
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(or payments). The variable cash payments (or receipts) are based on an expectation of future interest rates (forward 
curves) derived from observable market interest rate curves.

The Partnership assesses the effectiveness of qualifying cash flow hedges both at inception and on an on-going 
basis. The Partnership defers the effective portion of changes in fair value of the designated cash flow hedges to 
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) and reclassifies such deferrals to interest expense as interest expense is 
recognized on the hedged forecasted transactions. The Partnership recognizes the ineffective portion of the change 
in fair value of interest rate derivatives directly in interest expense. Fair value changes for derivatives that are not in 
qualifying hedge transactions are reported as a component of interest expense. 

The Partnership determines the fair value of its derivatives taking into consideration the nonperformance risk of its 
counterparties and itself. In adjusting the fair value of its derivative contracts for the effect of counterparty 
nonperformance risk, the Partnership has considered the impact of its net position with a given counterparty, as well 
as any applicable credit enhancements, such as collateral postings, thresholds, mutual puts and guarantees. The 
Partnership minimizes its credit risk on these transactions by dealing with major, credit-worthy financial institutions 
which have an A or better credit rating by the Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group. As part of its on-going control 
procedures, the Partnership monitors the credit ratings of counterparties and the exposure of the Partnership to any 
single entity, thus reducing credit risk concentration.

The majority of the inputs used to value the Partnership’s derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
However, the credit valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives use Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of 
current credit spreads, to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its counterparties. The Partnership believes 
the likelihood of realizing losses from counterparty nonperformance is remote and accordingly has classified the 
derivative assets and liabilities as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

(j) Revenue Recognition and Straight-Line Rent

Rental Revenue

In accordance with IFRS 16, the Partnership leases office space to tenants under various non-cancelable operating 
leases with remaining lease terms expiring through June 30, 2037. Revenue from rental properties is comprised of 
minimum base rent, straight-line rent adjustments, lease termination fee income, and lease incentive amortization.

Rental revenue from tenants is recognized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the leases, including all fixed and 
determinable rent escalations and any periods of free rent (rent abatement), regardless of when contractual rent 
payments are due. Recognition of rental revenue commences when control of the leased space has been transferred 
to the tenant and the leased space is or can be ready for its intended use.

In connection with a tenant’s execution, or modification, of a lease, if the Partnership makes cash payments to, or on 
behalf of, the tenant for purposes other than funding the construction of landlord assets, the Partnership defers the 
amount of such payments as lease incentive assets. Lease incentives assets are recorded as reductions of base rent 
which are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

Rental revenue also includes payments received in connection with lease termination agreements. Lease termination 
income is recognized during the period from execution of a lease termination agreement through the effective date of 
termination. When a tenant's lease for space in a property is terminated early but the tenant continues to lease such 
space under a new or modified lease in the property, the net revenue from the early termination of the lease is 
recognized evenly over the remaining life of the new or modified lease in place on that property, unless the 
Partnership cannot determine that collectability of the lease termination revenue is reasonably assured.
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Future cash revenues under non-cancelable leases as of September 30, 2022, are as follows:

Years Ending December 31, Amount

Remainder of 2022  40,785 

2023  169,093 

2024  138,819 

2025  124,200 

2026  114,402 

Thereafter  498,843 

$ 1,086,142 

Recoveries from Tenants

The Partnership operates as a principal for all investment properties with the exception of 75-101 Federal. As a 
principal with respect to property operating expenses subject to tenant recoveries, the Partnership is required to 
report tenant recovery revenue on a gross basis. The Partnership accounts for and reports as revenue all property 
operating costs reimbursable by the tenants as the costs are incurred.

Construction Management Fees

Construction management fees are earned by the Partnership for managing the construction of tenant and capital 
improvements at properties owned by related parties or third parties. Construction management fees are recognized 
as a single performance obligation (managing the construction of the project) comprised of a series of distinct 
services. Construction management fees are based upon contractual rates as defined in the relevant leasing and 
property management agreements. The Partnership believes that the overall service of construction management has 
substantially the same pattern of performance over the term of the agreement, therefore construction management 
fee income is recognized ratably throughout the period. Construction management fees for wholly owned properties 
and the Partnership’s proportion of the management fees earned from unconsolidated entities in which the 
Partnership is invested have been appropriately eliminated. 

Property Management Fees

Management fees are earned by the Partnership for managing properties owned by related or third parties. The 
management fees are based upon contractual rates applied to gross cash receipts from property operation. Property 
management fees are recognized on a monthly basis as a single performance obligation comprised of a series of 
distinct services related to property operations. The Partnership believes the overall services provided by property 
management activities have the same pattern of performance over the term of the agreement. Management fees for 
wholly owned properties and the Partnership’s share of the management fees earned from unconsolidated entities in 
which the Partnership is invested have been eliminated in consolidation.

Parking Income

The Partnership generates revenues from the parking garages located within its operating properties through 
management agreements. The Partnership operates as a principal with respect to parking activities as it retains the 
ability to direct the use of and derive substantially all of the benefits from the parking facilities and, accordingly, 
records parking revenue on a gross basis. 

(k) Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables are expected to be settled within the next 30 days, with a year being the maximum duration for the 
Partnership to settle any outstanding short term payables.
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3. Standards Issued, and Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective 
 
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7

In September 2019, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, which concludes phase one of its work to respond to 
the effects of the Interbank Offered Rates (IBOR) reform on financial reporting. The amendments provide temporary 
relief which enables hedge accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty before the replacement of an 
existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (an RFR). The Partnership adopted 
the provisions of IFRS 9 replacing IAS 39 effective January 1, 2021.  This adoption did not have a material impact on 
the Partnership's financial position or results from operations.  

The amendments include a number of provisions that provide relief, which apply to all hedging relationships that are 
directly affected by the interest rate benchmark reform. A hedging relationship is affected if the reform gives rise to 
uncertainties about the timing and/or amount of benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging 
instrument. Application of the reliefs is mandatory. 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. The adoption of these 
amendments on January 1, 2020, did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial position or results from 
operations. The Partnership' is still evaluating the impact of the future IBOR reform as well as expected additional 
amendments to the standards.

In August 2020, the IASB has published 'Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 
39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16). The Phase 2 amendments address issues that might affect financial reporting 
during the reform of an interest rate benchmark, including the effects of changes to contractual cash flows or hedging 
relationships arising from the replacement of an interest rate benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate 
(replacement issues).The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021, with 
earlier application permitted. The Partnership adopted these amendments on January 1, 2021. The adoption of these 
amendments did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial position or results from operations.

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - Amendments to IAS 1

In January 2020, the Board issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for 
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify aspects regarding the right to defer 
settlement, existence of such rights at the reporting period and classification of liabilities.

The amendments further clarify that the classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will 
exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. Management’s 
intention to settle in the short run does not impact the classification, and this applies even if settlement has occurred 
when the financial statements are authorized for issuance. The amendments are effective for annual reporting period 
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, and the Partnership is evaluating the impacts. The amendments must be 
applied retrospectively.

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions – Amendment to IFRS 16

In May 2020, the IASB amended IFRS 16 Leases to provide relief to lessees from applying the IFRS 16 guidance on 
lease modifications to rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. The amendment 
does not apply to lessors.

As a practical expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess whether a COVID-19 related rent concession from a lessor 
is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this election accounts for any change in lease payments resulting from 
the COVID-19 related rent concession the same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change 
were not a lease modification.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after June 1, 2020. Earlier application is permitted, 
including in interim or year end financial statements not yet authorized for issue at May 28, 2020.

In March 2021, the IASB issued an additional amendment to IFRS 16 for COVID-19-related rent concessions beyond 
the originally stated June 30, 2021 concession timeframe. This amendment applies a one-year extension to the 
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practical expedient for COVID-19 related rent concessions under IFRS 16 Leases through June 30, 2022. IFRS 16 
amendments did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial position or results from operations.

4.  Investment Properties

Income Generating Properties

The changes in the Partnership’s income generating properties are set forth in the table below:

        

Balance, December 31 2021 $ 2,403,873 

Capital expenditures additions and other[1]  23,031 

Net loss from fair value adjustment of income generating properties  (205,827) 

Reclassification of The Elm from properties in development  91,376 

Reclassification of Signal House from properties in development  77,878 

Balance, September 30, 2022 $ 2,390,331 

(1) The Wilson, The Elm, and Signal house were fully placed in service as of  September 30, 2022. All 2022 capital 
expenditures are reflected above. See below "Properties in Development" for additional info.

2022 Acquisitions

There were no acquisitions completed for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022. 

2021 Acquisitions

On May 12, 2021, the Partnership acquired 100% of 100 Congress Ave, a Class A office building in the Austin, Texas 
central business district at a purchase price of $315.0 million. The property is a 415,217 square foot mixed use 
building that is 91% leased as of September 30, 2022. The Partnership paid $189.9 million, assumed debt of $140.6 
million (original borrowing of $120.6 million, with an additional upsize of $20.0 million), and incurred capitalized 
transaction costs of $1.3 million. The company subsequently sold a 49% interest in the entity. See below "2021 
Dispositions" for additional information.

2022 Dispositions

There were no dispositions completed for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022. 

2021 Dispositions

On January 7, 2021, the Partnership sold 2025 Clarendon at a contractual price of $19.0 million resulting in 
consideration of $18.5 million net of transaction costs of $0.5 million. 

On April 23, 2021, the Partnership executed the sale of 49% ownership interest in Midtown Center at a valuation of 
$980.0 million. The purchaser assumed its share of the property's debt totaling $257.3 million, leading to gross 
proceeds to the Partnership of $223.0 million. The Partnership used the proceeds to pay down the credit facility. The 
Partnership recognized a loss of $22.5 million upon disposition, inclusive of $16.3 million write off of remaining un-
accreted balance of the interest rate swap paid in October 2019. See note 9 - "Debt" for additional details.  
Subsequent to disposition, the Partnership will account for its ownership in the joint venture using the equity method.

On September 24, 2021, the Partnership executed the sale of 49% ownership interest in 100 Congress at a valuation 
of $316.7 million. The purchaser assumed its share of the property's debt totaling $68.9 million, leading to gross 
proceeds to the Partnership of $86.4 million. The Partnership used the proceeds to pay down the credit facility. The 
Partnership recognized a loss of $0.4 million upon disposition. Subsequent to disposition, the Partnership will account 
for its ownership in the joint venture using the equity method.
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Joint Arrangements

On March 12, 2020, the Partnership acquired an undivided 50% ownership interest in a two tower mixed use office 
and retail complex at 75-101 Federal Street in Boston. The property is a  853,815 square foot mixed use building that 
is 85% leased as of September 30, 2022. 

The Partnership's evaluation of the contractual arrangement determined that classification as a joint operation is 
appropriate as the parties maintain the rights to the assets and obligations relating to the arrangement. The 
Partnership jointly controls the operations associated with the asset as it shares in the rights to direct and control the 
activities that most significantly impact its returns. Accordingly, the Partnership recognizes its proportionate ownership 
of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses within its financial statements. 

The fair value of the Partnership's proportionate interest in the investment property was $262.9 million as of 
September 30, 2022 and the carrying value of the assumed debt was $143.1 million.

Properties in Development

The changes in the Partnership’s properties in development are set forth below:

Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 169,254 

Capital expenditures additions and other  5,048 

Acquisition of 300 E Second (land and building improvement)  2,208 

Reclassification of The Elm to income generating properties  (91,376) 

Reclassification of Signal House to income generating properties  (77,878) 

Balance, September 30, 2022 $ 7,256 

The Wilson and The Elm are an 800,000 square foot two-tower office and residential building.  The office portion ("the 
Wilson") is a 363,000 square feet office tower. Substantial completion of the base office building, garage, and 
Wisconsin Avenue site work for The Wilson was achieved on October 7, 2020. Revenue recognition on the majority of 
the office space commenced in early 2021. The office space was 100% leased and occupied as of September 30, 
2022. The Wilson was fully placed in service in October 2021 upon which capitalization of interest expense, real 
estate taxes and other operating expenses ceased. The Partnership incurred $6.9 million and $16.2 million of capital 
expenditures for The Wilson for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

The residential component ("the Elm") is a 441,000 square feet residential tower. Substantial completion of the 
residential building for The Elm was achieved on June 2, 2021. Revenue recognition on a portion of the residential 
space commenced in early 2021 as the Partnership began to complete build outs of residential units. The residential 
space was 83% leased as of September 30, 2022. The Elm was fully placed in service in June 2022 upon which 
capitalization of interest expense, real estate taxes and other operating expenses ceased. The Partnership incurred 
$2.1 million and $24.4 million of capital expenditures for The Elm for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 
2021, respectively. 

The Partnership substantially completed Signal House, a 225,000 rentable square feet office building, on June 30, 
2021. The Partnership incurred $2.5 million and $11.1 million of capital expenditures for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Partnership has signed four leases totaling 158,800 square feet 
bringing the project to approximately 68% leased at September 30, 2022. Signal House was fully placed in service in 
June 2022 upon which capitalization of interest expense, real estate taxes and other operating expenses ceased. 
Initial occupancy and revenue recognition will commence in the fourth quarter of 2022.

On July 2, 2018, the Partnership entered into a purchase and sale agreement to acquire a second parcel of land 
located at 350 Morse Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. The purchase price of the land is $19.4 million subject to 
adjustments and prorations at closing. Subsequent to the execution of the purchase and sale agreement, the 
Partnership made a deposit of $1.0 million. On January 28, 2019, the Partnership amended its purchase and sale 
agreement, extending PUD approval terms and increasing the purchase price to $19.7 million. As of December 31, 
2021, the Partnership elected to permanently cease development activities on this site, and wrote off all costs 
incurred of $2.0 million. 

CARR PROPERTIES HOLDINGS LP
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(US Dollar amounts expressed in thousands, except share and per share data)

18



On February 15, 2022, the Partnership executed a ground lease for the land associated with 300 E Second, a 0.811 
acre site of developable land in the Austin, Texas central business district. The company paid $2.2 million in 
reimbursement of pre-development costs, and incurred capitalized transaction costs of $0.1 million. 

Consolidated, Non-Wholly Owned Properties and Capital Contributions

The Partnership is a joint venture partner in the ownership of 2311 Wilson, an approximately 178,000 square foot 
office building completed in February 2018 and placed it into service during the first quarter of 2019. As of 
September 30, 2022, the building was 100% leased.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, 
there were no capital contributions to 2311 Wilson or distributions to JV Entity (Otter Wilson Boulevard LLC).

A summary of the financial information for the consolidated, non-wholly owned properties, is as follows:

2311 Wilson  60.00 %  8,069  120,968  2,365  80,644  46,028  6,992  (4,326) 
$ 8,069 $ 120,968 $ 2,365 $ 80,644 $ 46,028 $ 6,992 $ (4,326) 

Less interest held by non-controlling interests  (18,412)  1,730 
Equity attributable to Partnership $ 27,616 $ (2,596) 

As of September 30, 2022
For the nine months 
ended September 30, 

2022

Property
Percent 
Owned

Current 
Assets

Non-
Current 
Assets

Current 
Liabilities

Non-
Current 

Liabilities Equity Revenues

Net 
Income 
(Loss)

2025 Clarendon  85.70 % $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ (34) 
2311 Wilson  60.00 %  3,528  120,309  812  80,506  42,519  6,507  4,911 

$ 3,528 $ 120,309 $ 812 $ 80,506 $ 42,519 $ 6,507 $ 4,877 
Less interest held by non-controlling interests  (17,006)  (2,045) 
Equity attributable to Partnership $ 25,513 $ 2,832 

As of December 31, 2021
For the nine months 
ended September 30, 

2021

Property
Percent 
Owned

Current 
Assets

Non-
Current 
Assets

Current 
Liabilities

Non-
Current 

Liabilities Equity Revenues

Net 
Income 
(Loss)

5.  Investments in Associates

The changes in the Partnership’s investments in associates are set forth below:

Balance, December 31 2021 $ 705,632 
Contributions  86 
Distributions  (10,542) 
Share of unrealized gain on valuation of underlying properties  18,811 
Share of net income (excluding unrealized gain on valuation)  16,106 
Balance, September 30 2022 $ 730,093 

Midtown Center

On April 23, 2021, the Partnership sold a 49% interest in Midtown Center to IGIS Midtown LLC. Midtown Center is an 
868,000 square foot two-tower office property with lower level retail space developed and substantially completed in 
2018 that is 100% leased. The Partnership will account for its remaining 51% investment in the joint venture using the 
equity method. See note 4 - "Investment Properties" for additional details.
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100 Congress

On May 12, 2021, the Partnership acquired 100% of 100 Congress Ave, a Class A office building in the Austin, Texas 
central business district at a purchase price of $315.0 million. The property is a 414,000 square foot mixed use 
building that is 91% leased as of September 30, 2022. The Partnership paid $189.9 million, assumed debt of $140.6 
million (original borrowing of $120.6 million, with an additional upsize of $20.0 million), and incurred and capitalized 
transaction costs of $1.3 million. 

On September 23, 2021, the Partnership sold a 49% interest in 100 Congress Ave to PPF OFF Congress Member, 
LLC. The Partnership will account for its remaining 51% investment in the joint venture using the equity method. See 
note 4 - "Investment Properties" for additional details.

One Congress 

On September 24, 2018, the Partnership entered into a 50-50 joint venture with National Real Estate Advisors, LLC in 
the One Congress office development project in downtown Boston, Massachusetts (One Congress). One Congress is 
under construction as a 43-story, 1,007,000 square foot office tower. Construction of the base building is expected to 
be complete in early 2023.

In January 2019, the joint venture executed a 15-year lease with State Street Corporation for approximately 510,000 
square feet to serve as its new headquarters. Occupancy is anticipated to commence in 2023 upon termination of 
State Street Corporation's existing lease. The property was 100% leased as of September 30, 2022. See note 18 - 
"Credit and Other Risks" for additional details regarding construction impacts.   

On July 23, 2019, the Partnership contributed an additional $24.8 million in capital to the joint venture to maintain a 
50-50 ownership interest as a result of the contribution of the developable land by the joint venture partner on this 
date. The Partnership concurrently contributed $58.5 million to acquire an additional 25% ownership interest in the 
joint venture resulting in 75% ownership subsequent to this transaction. 

The Partnership jointly shares in the rights to direct and control the activities that most significantly impact the joint 
venture’s returns and therefore does not maintain control over it. Accordingly, the Partnership accounts for its 
investment in the joint venture using the equity method. For the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, 
the Partnership contributed $0.0 million and  $24.6 million to the venture, respectively. The Partnership has 
contributed a total of $270.7 million to the venture as of September 30, 2022.

In June and July 2022, two separate fires occurred at the One Congress project. At this time, the Partnership cannot 
reasonably estimate or quantify with certainty the extent and amount of damage without further information; however, 
the Partnership believes it is virtually certain that any damages will be recovered through insurance proceeds and 
anticipates delivery of the project on time.

Construction Loan

On December 10, 2019, the joint venture entered into a $570.0 million facility on the One Congress project. The loan 
is interest only and will bear an interest rate of LIBOR plus 2.00% which can be reduced over time as certain 
milestones are met. The loan has a 5-year term, and matures in 2024 and can be extended for one year by the joint 
venture subject to terms and conditions. Transaction costs and related fees were $5.8 million. As of September 30, 
2022, the Partnership incurred $316.8 million of borrowing under this facility.

The facility stipulates the joint venture must contribute up-front equity not less than $341.3 million prior to incurring 
any borrowings under the loan. Subsequent to September 30, 2022, the Partnership entered into an amendment 
modifying the loan to bear an interest rate of SOFR plus 2.10% as of January 3, 2023. 
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Financial information related to the Partnership’s investments in associates is as follows:

 

Midtown Center  51.00 % $ 7,469 $ 929,344 $ 8,293 $ 532,564 $ 395,956 $ 57,145 $ (9,976) 
100 Congress  51.00 %  13,205  338,721  9,992  140,199  201,735  21,767  1,724 
One Congress  75.00 %  2,592  1,002,297  40,929  394,870  569,090  —  52,194 

$ 23,266 $ 2,270,362 $ 59,214 $ 1,067,633 $ 1,166,781 $ 78,912 $ 43,942 

Less: interest held by third-parties  (436,688)  (9,025) 
Amounts per financial statements $ 730,093 $ 34,917 

As of September 30, 2022 For the nine months ended 
September 30, 2022

Property
Percent 
Owned

Current 
Assets

Non-
Current 
Assets

Current 
Liabilities

Non-
Current 

Liabilities Equity Revenues
Net Income 

(Loss)

Midtown Center  51.00 % $ 8,640 $ 962,402 $ 11,768 $ 532,771 $ 426,503 $ 31,746 $ 11,956 
100 Congress  51.00 %  8,312  342,731  10,213  140,820  200,010  606  1,528 
One Congress  75.00 %  374  748,935  33,958  198,446  516,905  —  20,237 

$ 17,326 $ 2,054,068 $ 55,939 $ 872,037 $ 1,143,418 $ 32,352 $ 33,721 

Less: interest held by third-parties  (437,786)  (11,676) 
Amounts per financial statements $ 705,632 $ 22,045 

As of December 31, 2021
For the nine months ended 

September 30, 2021

Property
Percent 
Owned

Current 
Assets

Non-
Current 
Assets

Current 
Liabilities

Non-
Current 

Liabilities Equity Revenues
Net Income 

(Loss)

6. Assets Held for Sale

There were no assets classified as Held for Sale for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively. 

7.  Leases

The Partnership has material ground leases under its Columbia Center and 1701 Duke Street properties. In addition, 
the Partnership leases air rights at its 2001 Penn property. The Partnership also enters into various equipment and 
copier leases in a normal course of operations.

The Partnership recognizes a Right-of-Use Asset ("ROUA") and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
The ROUA is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs 
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less 
any lease incentives received.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Partnership’s incremental borrowing rate. 

The Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets reflect the following amounts relating to ROUA within "Investment 
properties, at fair value" and "Prepaid expense and other assets:"

Non-current assets

Income generating properties, net of ROUA $ 2,250,531 $ 2,257,774 

ROUA, at fair value  139,800  146,100 

September 30, 2022 December 31, 2021
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Income generating properties  2,390,331  2,403,874 

Properties in development, net of ROUA  6,800  169,254 

ROUA, at amortized cost  456  — 

Total investment properties, at fair value  2,397,587  2,573,128 

Current assets - CPH

Prepaid expense and other assets  13,945  13,022 

ROUA, net of accumulated depreciation  950  1,102 

Prepaid expense and other assets $ 14,895 $ 14,124 

September 30, 2022 December 31, 2021

A summary of the Partnership's lease assets is as follows:

Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ — $ 146,100 $ 1,102 $ 147,202 

Fair value adjustment, valuation  —  (6,300)  —  (6,300) 

ROUA Additions, net  1,063  149  1,212 

Accumulated Depreciation  (607)  (301)  (908) 

Balance as of September 30, 2022 $ 456 $ 139,800 $ 950 $ 141,206 

ROUA
Ground Lease 
and Air Rights, 

at amortized 
cost

Ground 
Lease and 
Air Rights, 
at fair value

Equipment 
and Copier 

Leases
Total

The air and ground leases have remaining terms ranging between 66-99 years. The Partnership also enters into 
various equipment and copier leases with terms ranging between one to five years. 

A summary of the Partnership's lease liabilities is as follows:

Columbia Center(1) 4.93% 2120  132,275  130,530 
1701 Duke Street(2) 5.20% 2107  7,829  7,729 
2001 Penn 4.94% 2087  4,392  4,372 
300 E Second(3) 5.54% 2127  481  — 
Other equipment leases Various Various 936 1,063
Total lease liabilities 145,913 143,694

Less current portion  857  524 
Lease liabilities, net of current portion $ 145,056 $ 143,170 

Discount Carrying Value
Property Rate Maturity September 30, 2022 December 31, 2021

(1) The Partnership executed a modified ground lease with a new land owner for 99 years on December 1, 2021.  See below 
"2021 Revaluations" for additional information.

(2) The 1701 Duke Street Ground Lease was revalued on April 1, 2021. See below "2021 Revaluations" for additional 
information.

(3) The Company executed a ground lease on February 15, 2022 for the ground under 300 E Second in Austin Texas. The 
Company has the right to terminate the lease until April 1, 2024. See Note 4 - "Investment Properties" for additional 
information.

2021 Revaluations

On April 1, 2021 the ground lease under the land at 1701 Duke was revalued based on appraised value as well as the 
10 year treasury rate at that time. The ROUA and lease liability each increased by $3.0 million. The Partnership did 
not incur any transaction costs as a result of the modification, and the reset did not have a material impact on the 
Partnership's financial statements.
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The ground under Columbia Center was sold from a related party to an unrelated party on December 1, 2021. 
Simultaneously, the Partnership executed a modified ground lease with the new land owner for 99 years. The ROUA 
and lease liability increased by $13.7 million and $11.1 million, respectively, inclusive of initial direct costs of $2.6 
million for the modification.

Contractual maturities differ from the lease liabilities detailed below and presented in the accompanying Condensed 
Consolidated Balance Sheets as the maturities shown include interest payments on lease liabilities.

Future Lease Maturities September 30, 2022

Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted cash flows

Less than one year $ 5,367 

One to five years 19,372

More than five years 1,256,735

Total undiscounted lease liabilities as of September 30, 2022 $ 1,281,474 

Lease liabilities September 30, 2022

Current lease liabilities $ 857 

Non-current lease liabilities  145,056 

Total lease liabilities $ 145,913 

Lease expense costs were as follows:

Lease Expense Nine Months Ended 
September 30,

2022 2021

Amounts recognized in profit or loss 

Interest expense on lease liabilities $ 3,331  3,796 

Equipment lease depreciation    301  201 

Total lease expense $ 3,632 $ 3,997 

Interest expense recognized on leases totaled $3.3 million and $3.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 
2022 and 2021, respectively.

Cash Flows Nine Months Ended 
September 30,

2022 2021

Amounts recognized in the statements of cash flows

Principal portion of lease payments $ 851 $ 361 

Interest expense on lease liabilities  3,331  3,796 

Total cash outflows related to leases $ 4,182 $ 4,157 

8. Goodwill 

The carrying value of goodwill was $9.3 million as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021. There were no 
indicators of impairment noted during either comparative period. No impairment losses were recognized in the three 
and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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9. Debt

The Partnership’s debt obligations consist of the following:

Credit facility (1):

Revolver LIBOR +1.25% to 2.00% 7/1/25 $ 308,500 (7,8) $ 273,500 (7)

Term Loan LIBOR +1.20% to 1.90% 7/1/26  300,000 (7,8,9)  300,000 (7)

75-101 Federal LIBOR +1.50% 3/12/25  143,639 (5,6)  143,094 (5,6)

1700 New York Avenue LIBOR +1.50% 4/25/24  62,685 (2,5)  63,540 (2,5)

2001 Pennsylvania 4.10% 8/1/24  65,000 (2)  65,000 (2)

Clarendon Square 4.66% 1/5/27  30,415 (2,3)  31,668 (2,3)

1615 L Street 4.61% 9/1/23  134,250 (2)  134,250 (2)

2311 Wilson LIBOR +1.35% 3/27/27  75,000 (2,5)  75,000 (2,5)

Total Debt  1,119,489  1,086,052 

Less unamortized deferred financing fees  5,404  6,623 

Total Debt, net of unamortized deferred financing fees  1,114,085  1,079,429 

Less current portion, net of unamortized deferred financing fees (4)  136,878  2,578 

Debt obligations, net of current portion $ 977,207 $ 1,076,851 

Principal Balance as of

Borrower/Facility Contractual Rate Maturity
September 30, 

2022 December 31, 2021

(1) Interest under the credit facility is charged at the London Interbank Offer Rate ("LIBOR"), plus an additional premium, 
depending on the defined ratio of the Partnership’s total indebtedness to total asset value. In addition, effective August 21, 
2020, there is a LIBOR floor of 0.25%. As of September 30, 2022, the premium was 1.60% for the Revolver and 1.50% for 
the Term loan. As of December 31, 2021, the premium was 1.45% for the Revolver and 1.40% for the Term loan. As of 
September 30, 2022, and December 31, 2021, the one-month LIBOR was 3.1% and 0.10%, respectively. 

(2) The fair value of the collateral pledged to these notes was $553.0 million and $620.8 million as of September 30, 2022, 
and December 31, 2021, respectively. 

(3) The carrying value of the Clarendon Square note payable as of September 30, 2022, and December 31, 2021, included a 
premium of $0.6 million, and $0.7 million, respectively.

(4) The current portion of unamortized deferred financing fees was $0.1 million and $0.1 million, as of September 30, 2022, 
and December 31, 2021, respectively.

(5) 1700 New York Avenue, 75-101 Federal, and 2311 Wilson loans are hedged against an anticipated rise in interest rates 
through interest swaps. See Note 11 - "Fair Value Measurements" for additional information.   

(6) Represents the Partnership's proportionate share of the $287.3 million note encumbering 75-101 Federal. 
(7) On July 1, 2021, the Partnership amended its credit facility extending the maturity through July 1, 2025 for the Revolver, 

and July 1, 2026 for the Term Loans. As part of this amendment, Term Loan A was expanded to $300 million, Term Loan B 
and Term Loan C were extinguished, and the maximum capacity of the revolver was expanded from $450 million to $500 
million.

(8) On May 3, 2022, the Partnership entered into an interest rate cap with a notional value of $400.0 million. See Note 11 - 
"Fair Value Measurements" for additional information.

(9) On May 3, 2022, Carr purchased a three-year 2.50% SOFR cap for $11.5 million to hedge the risk of rising interest rates 
on $400 million of its corporate credit facility. See Note 11 - "Fair Value Measurements" for additional information. 

All borrowings other than those made under the credit facility are collateralized by the land and buildings of the 
underlying properties. 

In connection with the Midtown Center financing, the Partnership settled the five forward-starting interest rate swaps 
with a combined notional value of $400.0 million for $39.4 million in October 2019. This amount was being accreted 
as non-cash interest expense over the 10 year term of the Midtown Center permanent loan and is included in Other 
Comprehensive Income (Loss). As part of the sale of 49% of Midtown Center, the Partnership wrote off the remaining 
balance of $33.2 million, of which $16.4 million was deferred, for a recognized loss of $16.8 million. See Note 4 - 
"Investment Properties" for additional information. 

On September 3, 2021 the Partnership paid down The Wilson and the Elm construction loan, totaling $251.9 million, 
utilizing funds from the drawn on the Revolver. The Partnership wrote-off $3.1 million in unamortized deferred 
financing costs. 
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Credit Facility

On March 5, 2021, the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) announced that USD LIBOR will no longer be published 
after June 30, 2023. This announcement has several implications, including setting the spread that may be used to 
automatically convert contracts from LIBOR to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”). Additionally, banking 
regulators are encouraging banks to discontinue new LIBOR debt issuances by December 31, 2021.

The Partnership anticipates that LIBOR will continue to be available at least until June 30, 2023. Any changes 
adopted by the FCA or other governing bodies in the method used for determining LIBOR may result in a sudden or 
prolonged increase or decrease in reported LIBOR. If that were to occur, our interest payments could change. In 
addition, uncertainty about the extent and manner of future changes may result in interest rates and/or payments that 
are higher or lower than if LIBOR were to remain available in its current form.

The Partnership and our unconsolidated joint ventures have contracts that are indexed to LIBOR and we are 
monitoring and evaluating the related risks. These risks arise in connection with transitioning contracts to an 
alternative rate, including any resulting value transfer that may occur, and are likely to vary by contract. The value of 
loans, securities, or derivative instruments tied to LIBOR, as well as interest rates on our unconsolidated joint 
ventures current or future indebtedness, may also be impacted if LIBOR is limited or discontinued. For some 
instruments the method of transitioning to an alternative reference rate may be challenging, especially if we cannot 
agree with the respective counterparty about how to make the transition.

While we expect LIBOR to be available in substantially its current form until at least the end of June 30, 2023, it is 
possible that LIBOR will become unavailable prior to that point. This could result, for example, if sufficient banks 
decline to make submissions to the LIBOR administrator. In that case, the risks associated with the transition to an 
alternative reference rate will be accelerated and magnified.

The Partnership entered into an amended and restated credit facility agreement with a group of lenders ("Amended 
Credit Facility") to the Credit Facility Agreement on July 1, 2021, extending the maturity through July 1, 2025 for the 
Revolver, and July 1, 2026 for the Term Loans. The extension amended various covenants, as well as removed the 
LIBOR rate floor of 0.25%. The Partnership incurred transaction costs of $6.2 million associated with the agreement 
which were deducted from the carrying amount of the debt. The Partnership wrote off $0.3 million in unamortized 
deferred financing costs. 

On August 21, 2020, the Partnership entered into an amended and restated credit facility agreement with a group of 
lenders ("Amended Credit Facility") to the Credit Facility Agreement, in order to modify various covenants associated 
with the credit facility. In addition, the Amended Credit Facility established a LIBOR rate floor of 0.25%. The 
Partnership incurred transaction costs of $1.1 million associated with the agreement which were deducted from the 
carrying amount of the debt. 

In addition, the credit agreement governing the Amended Credit Facility contains certain covenants which, among 
other things, require the Partnership to meet various financial covenants, including maximum leverage levels, 
minimum coverage levels and minimum tangible net worth, all as defined in the Amended Credit Facility. The 
Partnership was in compliance with all of its debt covenants as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, 
respectively. 

On April 4, 2018, the Partnership issued $30.0 million in letters of credit to the Maryland Transit Authority in 
conjunction with the Wilson project. Any issued letter of credit reduces the available balance on the Partnership’s 
revolving line of credit. No draws on the letter of credit have occurred as of June 1, 2019, when $27.0 million of the 
letters of credit expired in accordance with the underlying agreements. On June 5, 2019, the Partnership issued $0.3 
million in letters of credit to the District of Columbia Water and Sewer Authority in conjunction with Signal House. The 
letters of credit expired in April 30, 2021 in accordance with the terms and conditions.

As of September 30, 2022, the Partnership had capacity to borrow an additional $191.5 million under the Credit 
Facility. Subsequent to September 30, 2022, the Partnership has not borrowed from the revolver through 
November 9, 2022. 

Construction Loan - The Wilson and the Elm

On August 15, 2018, the Partnership entered into a $300.0 million construction loan facility on the Wilson project. The 
loan bears an interest rate of LIBOR plus 3.00%, has a five-year term and matures in 2023 but can be extended by 
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one year by the Partnership subject to terms and conditions. Transaction costs and related fees were $7.8 million. 
The facility was paid off and closed on September 3, 2021.

On August 21, 2020, the Partnership entered into a modification of the guarantor agreement associated with the 
construction loan at The Wilson and The Elm, with a group of lenders, in order to modify various covenants 
associated with the guaranty agreement to maintain conformity with the Credit Facility Amendment. The Partnership 
incurred transaction costs of $0.2 million associated with the agreement which were deducted from the carrying 
amount of the debt. 

On September 3, 2021 the Partnership fully repaid The Wilson and the Elm construction loan, totaling $251.9 million, 
utilizing funds from a draw on the Revolver. The Company wrote-off $3.1 million in unamortized deferred financing 
costs as a result of extinguishing this debt. 

Interest Expense

Interest expense is comprised of the following for the respective periods and inclusive of deferred financing fees and 
hedging impacts:

Credit facility $ 6,949 $ 2,131 $ 13,272 $ 6,064 

Notes payable 4,323 6,646 12,988 25,739

Distributions to redeemable non-controlling interests  674 47  2,648 143

Lease liabilities 1,759 1,274 5,197 3,796

Amortization of deferred financing fees 457 658 1,356 2,719

Gross interest expense $ 14,162 $ 10,756 $ 35,461 $ 38,461 

Capitalized interest expense

Capitalized deferred financing fees $ (4) $ (14) $ (82) $ (924) 

Capitalized interest  (56)  (113)  (675)  (3,831) 

Total capitalized interest expense  (60)  (127)  (757)  (4,755) 

Net interest expense $ 14,102 $ 10,629 $ 34,704 $ 33,706 

Three Months Ended 
September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 
30,

Description 2022 2021 2022 2021

Future Maturities of Debt

For periods subsequent to September 30, 2022, scheduled annual maturities of debt outstanding as of September 30, 
2022 are as follows: 

Remainder of 2022 $ 678 

2023 137,008

2024 127,955

2025 453,369

2026 301,860

Thereafter 97,495

$ 1,118,365 

Years Ending December 31, Amount (1)

(1) Principal amounts on debt outstanding exclude the premium on the Clarendon Square notes payable of $0.6 million. 
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Net Debt reconciliation

This section shows an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for the nine months ended September 30, 
2022:

Borrowings Leases Subtotal
Cash and cash 

equivalents Total
Net Debt, December 31 2021 $ (1,079,429) $ (143,694) $ (1,223,123) $ 28,373 $ (1,194,750) 
Cash flows  (33,400)  852  (32,548)  8,844  (23,704) 
New leases  —  (1,203)  (1,203)  —  (1,203) 
Other changes  (1,256)  (1,868)  (3,124)  —  (3,124) 

Net Debt, September 30 2022 $ (1,114,085) $ (145,913) $ (1,259,998) $ 37,217 $ (1,222,781) 

10. Financial Instruments

The Partnership’s cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash are subject to market risk due to changes in interest 
rates that may result in reduced income if interest rates decline. Credit facility and floating rate notes payable are 
subject to interest rate risk that may result in higher interest expense and adversely impact fair values. 

The fair values of financial instruments not carried at fair value but for which the fair value is disclosed as of 
September 30, 2022, in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are set forth in the table 
below:   

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 37,217 $ 37,217 Level 1
Restricted cash(1)  4,948  4,948 Level 1
Trade receivables, net  6,899  6,899 Level 3

Liabilities, including current portion
Credit facility(2) $ 608,500 $ 608,500 Level 3
Notes payable(2)  510,410  492,947 Level 3
Redeemable non-controlling interests(3)  85,999  85,999 Level 3

Carrying 
Value Fair Value

Fair Value 
Level

(1) Restricted cash is primarily comprised of mortgage escrows required by financial institutions for taxes, insurance, and 
repairs and maintenance of $4.9 million, and $0.1 million of cash held in bank lockbox pending disbursement.   

(2) Excludes deferred financing fees and debt premium.
(3) Carrying value of redeemable non-controlling interests approximates fair value given the short-term nature of the 

redemption features. 

The fair values of financial instruments not carried at fair value but for which the fair value is disclosed as of 
December 31, 2021, in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are set forth in the table 
below: 

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 28,373 $ 28,373 Level 1
Restricted cash(1)  5,310  5,310 Level 1
Trade receivables, net  6,133  6,133 Level 3

Liabilities, including current portion
Credit facility(2) $ 573,500 $ 573,482 Level 3
Notes payable(2)  511,871  508,051 Level 3
Redeemable non-controlling interests(3)  154,681  154,681 Level 3

Carrying 
Value Fair Value

Fair Value 
Level

CARR PROPERTIES HOLDINGS LP
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(US Dollar amounts expressed in thousands, except share and per share data)

27



(1) Restricted cash is primarily comprised of mortgage escrows required by financial institutions for taxes, insurance, and 
repairs and maintenance of $4.9 million, and $0.4 million of tenant improvements.   

(2) Excludes deferred financing fees and debt premium.
(3) Carrying value of redeemable non-controlling interests approximates fair value given the short-term nature of the 

redemption features. 

The fair value of indebtedness has been determined by giving consideration to one or more of the following criteria, 
as appropriate: (i) interest rates and/or interest rate spreads for loans of comparable quality and remaining maturity, 
(ii) the value of the underlying collateral, (iii) the credit risk of the borrower based on key elements of the investment 
properties’ valuation, (iv) market-based loan-to-value, and (v) key terms such as assumability, recourse provisions 
and guarantees. Following the date of inception, the notes payable have been recorded at amortized costs with the 
discounts and premiums amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method. 

Due to their short-term maturities, the carrying values of financial instruments including cash and equivalents, 
restricted cash and trade receivables approximate their fair values. 

11. Fair Value Measurements 

The following table summarizes the Partnership's interest rate swap and interest rate cap agreements as of 
September 30, 2022:

Interest Rate Cap(2)
Interest Rate 

Swaps(3)

Notional balance $ 400,000 $ 277,685 
Weighted average interest rate (1)  2.50 %  1.37 %
Earliest maturity date July 1, 2025 April 1, 2024
Latest maturity date July 1, 2025 March 27, 2027

Cash Flow Hedges

(1) Represents the weighted average interest rate that was fixed on the hedged debt.
(2) This cap is fixed using SOFR.
(3) These swaps are fixed using LIBOR.

The following table summarizes the Partnership's interest rate swap agreements as of December 31, 2021:

Interest Rate Swaps

Notional balance(1) $ 278,540 
Weighted average interest rate (2)  1.38 %
Earliest maturity date April 1, 2024
Latest maturity date March 27, 2027

Cash Flow Hedges

(1) Two interest rate swaps with a notional value of $25.0 million that matured on February 5, 2021.
(2) Represents the weighted average interest rate at which LIBOR was fixed on the hedged debt.

On May 3, 2022, the Partnership entered into an interest rate cap with a notional value of $400.0 million in an effort to 
limit its exposure to increases in future interest rates on its credit facility. The hedged instrument will cap any 
increases in interest rate exposure above SOFR of 2.5%. The cap is effective from the period July 1, 2022, through 
July 1, 2025.

The interest rate caps and swaps are being accounted for as cash flow hedges as these transactions were executed 
to hedge the Partnership’s anticipated interest payments, and these hedges are deemed to be highly effective. As 
such, changes in the fair value of these derivative instruments are recorded as unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow 
hedges included within “Equity Reserve for Cash Flow Hedges” on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and 
Statements of Changes in Equity.

The changes in fair value of effective hedges recorded within "Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)" were $14.4 
million and $26.1 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively, and $0.7 million and 
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$4.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively. There was no material hedge 
ineffectiveness recognized during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021. During the three and nine 
months ended September 30, 2022, the Partnership reclassified $0.5 million and $(0.2) million, respectively, and 
($0.8) million and $(2.3) million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 of (losses) gains on cash 
flow hedges from “Equity reserve for cash flow hedges" to “Interest expense.” 

As of September 30, 2022, the Partnership anticipates the reclassification of $11.9 million of hedging gains from 
"Equity reserve for cash flow hedges" into earnings within the next 12 months to offset the variability of cash flows of 
the hedged items during this period. 

As of September 30, 2022, the Partnership assessed the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall 
valuation of its derivative portfolio and determined it is not significant. As a result, the Partnership classified its 
hedging instruments within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

The following assets and liabilities, measured at fair value as of September 30, 2022, are classified as follows:

Assets:
Investments in income generating properties $ — $ — $ 2,390,331 
Investments in properties in development  —  —  7,256 
Derivative assets  —  37,718  — 

Total Assets $ — $ 37,718 $ 2,397,587 
Liabilities:
Derivative liabilities, net of current portion  —  —  — 

Total Liabilities $ — $ — $ — 

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

The following assets and liabilities, measured at fair value as of December 31, 2021, are classified as follows:

Assets:
Investments in income generating properties $ — $ — $ 2,403,873 
Investments in properties in development  —  — 169,254
Derivative assets  —  3,601  — 

Total Assets $ — $ 3,601 $ 2,573,127 
Liabilities:
Derivative liabilities, net of current portion  —  2,550  — 

Total Liabilities $ — $ 2,550 $ — 

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

A summary of the changes in the Partnership's assets measured at fair value using significant unobservable inputs 
(Level 3) are set forth in Note 4 - "Investment Properties"

The Partnership engages a third-party appraiser each reporting period. As part of the valuation process, the 
Partnership regularly evaluates factors that may adversely impact the fair value assessments. In consideration of the 
COVID-19 impacts and the significant disruption to our business and economy (as further disclosed in Note 18 - 
"Credit and Other Risks") we considered the potentially broad effects on the fair value measurement of our properties 
at September 30, 2022. While there remains substantial uncertainty regarding the extent or duration of impacts on fair 
value, our valuation determinations reflect changes in various underlying assumptions including increased lease-up 
timeframes, reductions in parking revenue, increased tenant concessions and increased credit loss assumptions. The 
impacts on investment criteria and market driven inputs, including capitalization rates and discount rates remains 
uncertain. We have made material changes to both capitalization as discount rates as of September 30, 2022.
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The following table sets forth quantitative information about the Level 3 fair value measurements as of September 30, 
2022:

Investments in income generating properties $ 2,390,331 

Discounted cash flow - Income 
capitalization 

Market transaction
Net present value - Lease 

liabilities

Discount Rate

Exit Capitalization 
Rate

6.00% - 7.50%
(6.67%)

4.50% - 6.25%
  (5.52%)

Investments in properties in development  7,256 
Amortized Cost 

Net present value - Lease 
liabilities

Discount Rate(1) 5.54%

Total $ 2,397,587 

Description Fair Value Valuation Technique
Unobservable 

Inputs
Range 

(Weighted Avg)

(1) Discount rate was applied upon initial valuation of 300 E Second Ground Lease. See Note 7 - "Leases" for additional 
information.  

The following table sets forth quantitative information about the Level 3 fair value measurements as of December 31, 
2021:

Investments in income generating properties $ 2,403,873 

Discounted cash flow - Income 
capitalization 

Market transaction
Net present value - Lease 

liabilities

Discount Rate

Exit Capitalization 
Rate

5.75% - 7.25%
(6.29%)

4.75% - 6.00%
  (5.56%)

Investments in properties in development  169,254 Discounted cash flow - Income 
capitalization

Discount Rate

Exit Capitalization 
Rate

6.00% - 7.00%
(6.40%)

4.75% - 6.00%
  (4.82%)

Total $ 2,573,127 

Description Fair Value Valuation Technique
Unobservable 

Inputs
Range 

(Weighted Avg)

12. Non-Property General and Administrative Expenses

The Partnership incurs personnel and compensation costs, professional fees, information technology costs and other 
corporate related costs that are collectively classified as non-property general and administrative expenses. 

The following summarizes the various expenses comprising this activity for the respective periods:
Three Months Ended September 

30,
Nine Months Ended September 

30,

Description 2022 2021 2022 2021

Personnel and compensation $ 3,302 $ 4,200 $ 10,240 $ 12,287 

Professional fees 538 894 2,486 2,671

Information technology 540 306 1,174 692

Other corporate 686 817  2,036  1,773 

Total non-property general and administrative $ 5,066 $ 6,217 $ 15,936 $ 17,423 

13. Other Property Operating Expenses

The Partnership incurred other property operating expenses of $5.0 million and $13.7 million for the three and nine 
months ended September 30, 2022, respectively, and $4.2 million and $12.8 million for the three and nine months 
ended September 30, 2021, respectively. Other expenses are comprised of parking management fees associated 
with third-party agreements, tenant specific charges and office expense costs for which the Partnership is 
substantially reimbursed through recovery income, amortization of deferred leasing commissions, and other non-
recoverable charges including marketing and allocable overhead costs. 
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14. Related Party Transactions 

The Partnership manages properties owned by associates and other unconsolidated related parties for which it 
receives fees for asset management, property management, construction management and development. All fees 
charged to wholly owned properties are fully eliminated in consolidation. The Partnership's portion of the fees earned 
from Investment in associates is appropriately eliminated during the consolidation process. Property management 
fees totaled $1.1 million and $3.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively, and 
$1.0 million and $2.6 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively. Construction 
management fees totaled $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, 
respectively, and $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively. 
Property management and construction fees are recorded in "Property management fees and other" on the 
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Outstanding related party receivables pertaining to these fees were $1.6 million for both September 30, 2022 and 
December 31, 2021, respectively. The Partnership leases the ground under 1701 Duke property from related parties. 
See Note 7 - "Leases" for additional information. 

15. Commitments and Contingencies

There are no asserted or unasserted legal claims, other than ordinary routine litigation incidental to its business, to 
which the Partnership is a party or to which any of the properties is subject to, that the Partnership believes will have 
a material adverse effect on financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Performance Bonds 

In the ordinary course of business, the Partnership is required to post performance bonds to secure its performance 
under its development projects. These bonds provide a guarantee to the counterparty that the Partnership will 
perform under the terms of a contract. To date, the Partnership has not been required to make any reimbursements to 
its sureties for bond-related costs. Management believes that it is highly unlikely it will have to fund significant claims 
under the surety arrangements in the foreseeable future. As of September 30, 2022, the Partnership had $1.9 million 
in performance bonds outstanding with commitment terms expiring through September 28, 2023.

Repayment Guarantees

The Partnership and its subsidiaries have guaranteed certain construction work to be performed at the Partnership’s 
investment properties, payment of construction loans related to property development, ground lease payments and 
repayment of mortgage liabilities. Because the Partnership controls the investment properties and the related 
construction spending and construction loan borrowings, no liabilities have been recorded relating to these 
guarantees. As of September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Partnership was in compliance with all guarantees and 
guarantee covenants.

On July 2, 2018, the Partnership entered into a purchase and sale agreement to acquire a second parcel of land 
("C2") located at 350 Morse Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. The purchase price of the land is $19.4 million subject to 
adjustments and prorations at closing. Subsequent to the execution of the purchase and sale agreement, the 
Partnership made a deposit of $1.0 million. On January 28, 2019, the Partnership amended its purchase and sale 
agreement, extending PUD approval terms and increasing the purchase price to $19.7 million. As of December 31, 
2021, the Partnership elected to permanently cease development activities on this site, and wrote off all costs 
incurred of $2.0 million. 

A consolidated subsidiary of the Partnership, Carr Properties OC LLC, has guaranteed portions of the One Congress 
borrowings whereas in an event of default, the respective lenders have recourse to the collateral pledged to secure 
the borrowings. This recourse is limited to the general credit of the guarantor entity to the extent of this guarantee of 
11.25% of principal balance or $64.1 million. 

Employee Benefits

In June 2018, the Partnership adopted the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (“the Plan”). The Plan provides for the issuance 
of LTIP Units which may be in the form of Service Units, Performance Units or both. The determination of units 
awarded to each grantee is based on the Partnership’s respective Net Asset Value ("NAV") at the time of issuance.  
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Through December 31, 2020, the Partnership granted 26.4 million LTIP units. In April 2021, the Partnership granted 
an additional 5.7 million units. In March 2022, the Partnership granted an additional 9.0 million units.

Award Class

No. of units 
granted (in 
millions) Grant Date Vest Date 1 Vest Date 2 (1)

Outstanding 
Units (in 

millions) (2)

2018 service units 1.5 Dec 2017 Mar 2021 Mar 2022  — 

2018 performance units 1.5 Dec 2017 Mar 2021 Mar 2022 (3)  — 

2019 service units 1.5 Dec 2018 Mar 2022 Mar 2023  0.7 

2019 performance units 3.1 Dec 2018 Mar 2022 (3) Mar 2023  — 

2020 special service units 9.1 Dec 2019 Dec 2023 Dec 2024, Dec 2025  9.1 

2020 service units 1.8 Dec 2019 Jun 2020 Sep 2020  1.8 

2020 performance units 2.4 Dec 2019 Mar 2023 —  3.5 

2021 service units 1.9 Apr 2021 Mar 2024 —  1.8 

2021 performance units 3.8 Apr 2021 Mar 2024 —  3.6 

2022 special service units 1.8 Mar 2022 Mar 2025 —  1.8 

2022 service units 2.7 Mar 2022 Mar 2025 —  2.7 

2022 performance units 2.7 Mar 2022 Mar 2025 —  2.7 

Total outstanding units  27.7 

(1) Awards granted after 2020 service units are issued with one vesting date.
(2) Vesting is based on continued employment services through the vesting dates. Compensation expense will be recognized 

over the respective vesting periods. 
(3) These units did not meet performance threshold and expired without vesting.

Vesting of all performance units is dependent upon the Partnership achieving certain return thresholds based on NAV 
over a three-year performance period. Below a 6.0% cumulative per annum return, no performance units will be 
earned. Between a 6.0% and 9.0% cumulative per annum return, the earning begins at 75% and grows to 125% at 
the high end of the performance units that may be earned based on linear interpolation within that range.

A summary of the Partnership's LTIP activity during the period ended September 30, 2022 is presented below:

(in thousands) Total Units

LTIP units outstanding, December 31, 2021  25,237 

LTIP units granted during the period  7,259 

LTIP units converted  (1,308) 

LTIP units forfeited/other  (3,491) 

LTIP units outstanding, June 30, 2022  27,697 

Compensation expense is based on NAV as of each period end consistent with the Partnership's expectation of 
performance and the anticipated units expected to vest for the respective three-year performance period. 

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, the Partnership recognized $0.5 million and 
$2.2 million of LTIP-related expense, of which $0.0 million and $0.2 million was capitalized, respectively, and 
$2.1 million and $5.7 million of LTIP-related expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, of 
which $0.2 million and $0.5 million was capitalized. 

16. Corporate Officer's Compensation

Salary and bonus expense for the Partnership's corporate officers totaled $0.8 million and $2.3 million for the three 
and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively, and $0.6 million and $1.6 million for the three and nine 
months ended September 30, 2021, respectively. Employee benefit expense for these officers was less than $0.1 
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million and $0.1 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, and 2021, respectively. For the 
three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, LTIP expense was $0.2 million and $1.4 million, respectively, and 
$0.7 million and $2.7 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively. No long-term 
compensation or retirement contributions were paid. These amounts are included in "Non-property general and 
administrative expenses" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and 
Comprehensive Income (Loss).

17. Equity 

2022 Redemption and Capital Raise

On May 5, 2022, one of the holders of the Redeemable Non-controlling Interest in the Partnership exercised its 
contractual redemption right, and the Partnership executed a redemption of ownership interest in CPP totaling $60.3 
million. The Partnership redeemed the interest using cash from its revolver. The Partnership subsequently raised 
additional funds through the sale of shares of common units of CPH for $60.3 million to Alony-Hetz and other 
additional investors. Amounts raised by CPH were contributed to CPC in exchange for shares through a subscription 
agreement and subsequently contributed to CPP. The proceeds from the raise were used to repay outstanding 
borrowings on the revolver. As of September 30, 2022, and December 31, 2021, CPH owned 100% of CPC.

Ownership of Carr Properties Partnership LP after equity raise:

Partner / Investor
Additional
Investment

Ownership
Percent

Carr Properties Corporation $ 60,337  93.90 %

Clal  —  6.10 %

$ 60,337  100.00 %

Ownership of Carr Properties Holdings LP after equity raise:

AH Carr Properties Holdings LP $ 60,330  52.33 %
CET Acquisition Company Inc.  —  38.88 %
Clal  —  8.76 %
Other Investors  7  0.03 %

$ 60,337  100.00 %

Partner/Investor
Additional
Investment

Ownership
Percent

2022 Stock Split

Effective June 30, 2022, the Partnership executed a stock split at a ratio of 1.013 units of common shares for every 
1.00 unit outstanding. 18.8 million shares were issued. 

2022 Dividend Reinvestment Program

As of September 30, 2022, the Partnership has issued 10.9 million additional share in lieu of cash dividends. 

Non-Controlling Interests

Certain of the non-controlling interests have redemption rights that allow them to request the redemption of their 
interest at 97% of the Net Asset Value per common interests in CPP. These interests are recorded as "Redeemable 
non-controlling interests" within "Current liabilities" and "Redeemable non-controlling interests, net of current portion" 
within "Non-current liabilities." As of June 30, 2022, all redeemable non-controlling interests were determined to be 
current, due to the expiration of any remaining lock-out provisions. As of September 30, 2022, the value of these 
redeemable non-controlling interests were $86.0 million within "Current liabilities." As of December 31, 2021, the 
value of these redeemable non-controlling interests were $152.4 million within "Current liabilities" and $2.2 million 
within "Non-current liabilities," respectively. 
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"Equity attributable to non-redeemable non-controlling interests" is reported as "Non-Redeemable non-controlling 
interests" within “Equity” on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of September 30, 2022 and 
December 31, 2021, the total value of these non-redeemable non-controlling interests was $139.3 million and 
$144.2 million, respectively. 

The changes in the Partnership's redeemable non-controlling interests are set forth below:

Shares Value
Balance, December 31, 2021  113,617 $ 154,681 
LTIP Issuances  1,308  1,775 
DRIP Issuances  8  10 
Redemptions  (46,972)  (61,978) 
Revaluation/Other  —  (8,489) 
Balance, September 30 2022  67,961 $ 85,999 

The Partnership also maintained seven additional subsidiary REITs as of September 30, 2022 in which there are 
preferred shareholder interests. 

Distributions

Distributions are declared and paid upon the declaration of the Board of Directors, generally quarterly. On May 11, 
2022, the Partnership declared its first quarter distribution of $1.3 million from CPP, all of which was attributable to 
redeemable non-controlling interests. These distributions were paid as of September 30, 2022. As of September 30, 
2022, the Partnership has not declared any unpaid distributions. 

18. Credit and Other Risks

In early spring 2020, the outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) had adversely impacted global 
commercial activity and contributed to significant declines and volatility in financial markets. The COVID-19 pandemic 
and government responses created disruption in global supply chains and adversely impacted and continues to 
impact many industries. The outbreak has a continued material adverse impact on economic and market conditions 
and triggered a period of global economic slowdown. The rapid development and fluidity of this situation precludes 
any prediction as to the ultimate material adverse impact of COVID-19. 

Since first being declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 2020, the coronavirus, or 
COVID-19, has spread throughout the United States. However, in winter of 2020, announcements were made by two 
pharmaceutical companies that vaccines would soon become available. As the COVID-19 vaccine roll-out gained 
momentum in early 2021, there was an increase in positive outlooks for many industries. As of the date of the release 
of these financial statements, and while there has been many public return-to-office announcements by major US 
companies, there is still hesitancy and uncertainty as to if office demand will return to pre-COVID-19 levels in the near 
term. This outbreak has resulted in governmental actions in the Partnership's operating jurisdictions to impose 
measures intended to control infection, including restrictions on movement and business operations. 

Conditions have stabilized, however, as a result of the pandemic and measures instituted to prevent spread, the 
Partnership may adversely be effected in many ways, including by disrupting:

• the ability and willingness of the Partnership's tenants to meet their contractual obligations;
• The Partnership's ability to maintain occupancy in its properties and obtain new leases for unoccupied 

space;
• The Partnership's access to debt and equity capital on desired terms or at all;
• the supply of products or services from the Partnership's vendors; and
• ability to continue or complete planned development, including the potential for delays in labor or material 

supply necessary for development.

The Partnership collected approximately 99% of contractual rent from its customers during the three and nine months 
ended September 30, 2022, respectively. The Partnership continues to closely monitor tenant payments and 
maintains close communication with certain tenants as it assesses the potential impacts that may arise if unable to 
make timely rental payments. 

CARR PROPERTIES HOLDINGS LP
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(US Dollar amounts expressed in thousands, except share and per share data)

34



During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, the Partnership provided short-term rent relief to 
certain tenants on a case by case basis. However, these changes did not have a material impact on the Condensed 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) or require further assessment through the 
date of issuance. 

Market Leasing Risk

The Partnership faces competition from developers, owners, and operators in the commercial office real estate 
space. Such competition and the increase in remote working, may effect the Partnership's ability to attract or retain 
tenants. It may also impact the rents we are able to charge. 

Credit Risk

The Partnership’s maximum exposure to credit risk associated with financial assets measured at amortized cost is 
equivalent to the carrying value of each class of financial assets measured as separately presented in receivables, 
restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents. Credit risk related to accounts receivable arises from the possibility 
that tenants may be unable to fulfill their lease commitments. The Partnership generally manages this risk by signing 
long-term leases with tenants who have investment grade credit ratings.

19. Subsequent Events

The Partnership evaluated subsequent events through November 9, 2022, the date the condensed consolidated 
financial statements were available to be issued. The Partnership concluded that no additional subsequent events 
have occurred that would require additional recognition or disclosure in the condensed consolidated financial 
statements other than those disclosed in the respective footnotes and herein.
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Energix, Poland

Auditor’s Consent 
Letters

Alony Hetz Properties & Investments ltd.



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Date: November 22, 2022  
 
To 
The Board of Directors of Alony Hetz Properties and Investments Ltd. ("the company") 
 
Dear Sir/Madam, 

 

 

Re:  Consent letter in term of Alony Hetz Properties and Investments Ltd. Shelf 
Offering from May 2021 

 

 

We hereby advise you that we agree to the inclusion (including by a way of reference) of our 
review reports detailed below in connection with the May 2021 shelf prospectus.  

(1) Review Report dated November 22, 2022, regarding the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of the company as of September 30, 2022, and for the nine and three 
months periods ended September 30, 2022. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully, 
 
Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co. 
Certified Public Accountants 
A Firm in the Deloitte Global Network 
 
 
 
 



 

 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 655 New York Avenue NW, Washington, DC 20001 
T: (202) 414 1000, www.pwc.com/us 
 
 

To: The Management of Carr Properties Holdings, LP and the Board of Directors of Alony-Hetz Properties 
and Investments Ltd. 
 
 
Re: Consent letter in respect of Alony-Hetz Properties and Investments Ltd. shelf prospectus from May 
2021 
 
 
We hereby inform you that we agree to the inclusion (including by way of reference) of our report listed 
below in respect of the shelf prospectus dated May 6, 2021 which was published by Alony-Hetz Properties 
and Investments Ltd: 
 
Review Report of Independent Auditors dated November 9, 2022 regarding the Condensed 
Consolidated Interim Financial Statements of Carr Properties Holdings LP as of September 30, 2022 and 
for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021. 

 
 
November 21, 2022 




